
Appendix D 

20220717 – All chapters indexed including WTC and Visitors Book 

i 
Person Index 

for 

My First Thirty Years 

This person index is a reference to help use the memoirs, enabling you to 

locate writings about each individual.  It’s also an easy way to get to know 

Mat’s family and friends from the summary notes and portraits (where 

available).  Immediate family up to grandparents are listed first, then all 

relatives, friends, staff & other acquaintances in alphabetical order of first 

name.  There are also cross-references to Wartime Correspondence (Appendix E) 

and Visitors Book (Appendix F).  A few people are not mentioned in the 

memoirs, but are relatives or appear in the Wartime Correspondence. 

William Schwitzer, March 2022 

 

Abbreviations 
MFTY My First Thirty Years 
WTC Wartime Correspondence (Appendix E) 
VB Visitors Book (Appendix F) 
WW1, WW2 World War I, World War II 
b, m, d born, married, died 
DN Death Notice 
NFP Neue Freie Presse (Vienna newspaper used for death notices)  
Sch1 Primary School (Evangelische Volkesschule, Bratislava) 
Sch2 Secondary School (Staatsrealgymnasium, Bratislava) 
d/b, b/a died before WW2, born after WW2 
l/e lived elsewhere, i.e. in a country not occupied by Axis powers 
n/m not mentioned 
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Immediate family including grandparents     

Simon Schwitzer 1851-1937 
Grandfather 
One of 6 children, 2 older sisters (Fani & Johanna), younger 
brother (Max) and 2 younger sisters (Berta & Rosa). Well-
dressed and “gentleness personified” in MKS’s words. Grew up 
in Slovak village inn, at 16 ran away to Budapest to work as 
drinks waiter. Became farmer. After first wife (Amalia 
Schlesinger) died in childbirth with first son (Josef), married 
her cousin (Johanna Kuffler), farmed in Madunice, had 4 more 
children (Berta, Štefan, Leonka, Frieda). Later had other farms 
around Nitra, and apartment in Nitra. Mentioned in book on 
Nitra as benevolent landowner. Donated bell (cast 1928) for 
Nitra’s Piarist Church with latin inscription saying given on 
occasion of his conversion to catholicism (which was 1919). 
Moved to farm in Tepličky where he later retired and is buried, 
leaving Madunice first to Josef and later to Štefan. Asthmatic. 
Holidayed in Opatija on the Adriatic. MKS (20) attended his 
funeral. Reference in 033 to visiting his mausoleum. 

 
  

 

5/30 6/32-41 7/45 
15/137 15/140 

photos 6/34 6/39 
033 d/b 

Johanna Schwitzer née Kuffler 1851-1919 
Grandmother 
Johanna was approx 5th child of a family of 5 boys and 5 girls 
(1 younger sister, 4 younger brothers).  Marriage to Simon 
was her second. MKS names one son (Alojz) from previous 
marriage “who died before 1919”, geni.com has a different 
name Wilhelm Kuffler, confirmed by his death notice 
published in the NFP on 6.9.1912. From his surname, it’s 
possible Johanna’s first marriage was to a Kuffler cousin. 
Johanna died when MKS was 2, so understandably writes very 
little about her in Chapter 6, other than that she had a 
reputation of being bossy and true to family motto “Ja som 
Kuffler” (“I am a Kuffler”), used to get their own way. 

 
6/33-36 

photos 6/34 n/m d/b 

Simon Szilard 12.5.1861-30.12.1944 
Grandfather 
One of 8 children, parents were farmers near Nitra (see 
Chapter 4). Family name originally Schlüssler, hungarianised 
in keeping with pre-WW1 times. Officer in WW1. Lawyer. 
Name appears in case histories in Austrian press (search 
anno.onb.ac.at). MKS points out career was limited by training 
in hungarian law pre-WW1 but practicing in new country 
(Czechoslovakia) in which much had changed. House and 
office in centre of Hlohovec. Loved geraniums. Alice’s wartime 
letters say he became very frail in old age. Died at home in 
Hlohovec on 30.12.1944, buried secretly in Jewish cemetery. 
In 2011 MKS paid for gravestone to be placed on his grave. 

 

4/21-24 8/54 
15/149 29/314 
29/320 29/323 

30/341 
photos 4/22-23 

10/72 
house 4/25-27 

005 015 
023 025 
028 032 
033 034 
101 037 
105 106 
044 

Not deported because 
of old age.  Died 

naturally in December 
1944. 

Hermina Szilard née Hajós 1866-28.5.1927 
Grandmother 
One of 9 children, with 5 brothers (Lajos, Geza, Emil, Albin, 
Isidor) and 3 sisters (Paula, Kornelia/Nella, Iren), we have 
more info about the Hajos family through MKS’s contact with 
Nella Polgar, and the research and online database of Tamas 
Hajós (Geza’s grandson). MKS’s memoirs have photos  of 
Hermina as young girl in grounds of the large house in Forró-
Encs where she was brought up. Married Simon at 26, had 3 
children Alice (MKS’s mother), Boris (George Polgar’s mother) 
and son Pista (another daughter died young). Very religious 
(christian), lived next to church in St Michael’s Sq, Hlohovec. 
MKS remembered her as petite and wearing many rings. She 
never recovered after her only son’s suicide, always wearing 
black, became very ill and stayed with MKS’s family, died 7 
years after her son’s death, aged only about 61. 

 

4/15 4/27 10/68 
10/71 13/106-7 
photos 4/18-19 
4/22 10/72 

n/m d/b 
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Štefan Schwitzer 1885-1945 
Father 
Born in Madunice, second child of his father Simon’s second 
marriage, with older half-brother (Josef) and three sisters 
(Berta, Leona, Frieda). Farmer who was happiest in the fields 
and stables (see Chapter 7). As farmer, exempted from WW1 
military service. By late 1920s was farming over 5000 jutar 
(more than 7000 acres), making him one of the largest 
farmers in southern Slovakia (see Chapter 13). MKS describes 
him (in Chapter 15) as an “adventurous” mixed farmer, 
growing wheat, barley, clover, lucerne (for silage), broad 
beans, sugar beat, potatoes, maize, tobacco, gherkins, and 
even watermelons one season, and with cattle (for beef and 
their manure), pigs, sheep, 50 pairs of horses for ploughing 
and other work, oxen, steam & traction engines, and his own 
distillery (using sugar beet). Three children, MKS, Anni & Susi 
(Jean). One of five names on the ‘In Memoriam’ tablet in 
Simon Schwitzer’s mausoleum. VB Prague 24.4.1937 page 3 
(translation 20/201). 

 

Chapter 7 
5/30 6/33-41 8/48 
9/56 10/67 10/77-
78 11/83 11/86 
13/97 13/112-3 
14/130 15/135-7  

15/140-155 
16/161 20/201 
20/202 20/204 
22/221 23/243 
24/244-5 25/270 
26/276 29/314 
29/321 29/327 
29/329 30/338 
A/351 A/353-4 

photos 9/61 10/72 
13/108 13/111 
14/128 15/156 
19/186 29/306 

005 018 
028 031 
035 039 
106 040 
041 203 

Shot in own fields 
resisting arrest / 

deportation 

Alice Schwitzer née Szilard (“Licka”, “Litzka”) 
1893-1945 
Mother 
Eldest child of three (a 4th died young), brought up in 
Hlohovec, played piano, enjoyed ballroom dancing and 
theatre. Married Štefan at 22, divorced when she was 35, 
requiring a bishop’s dispensation (see Chapter 13). Later had 
a partner, Ernö Weisz, whom she never married (see 
Appendix A). Lived in Košice from June 1941 (then under 
military rule), but after Ernö was not allowed to work, moved 
to rented flat in Budapest living off Ernö’s savings. As 
assimilated churchgoer avoided 1944 hungarian deportations, 
then moved back to Hlohovec to go into hiding, but caught 
and deported in December 1944. One of five names on the ‘In 
Memoriam’ tablet in Simon Schwitzer’s mausoleum. VB Prague 
6.1.1938 page 16. 

 
 

Chapter 5 
6/36 6/38 6/42 

7/45-47 8/48 9/56 
9/65 10/67-71 
10/74 10/76-77 

11/82 13/109-110 
15/141 16/161 
20/196 20/198 
20/201 22/219 
22/221-3 23/225 
23/235 23/237 
23/243 24/244-5 
24/248 25/254 
25/267 25/270 
26/276 26/278 
27/296 29/314 
29/320-1 29/323 
29/327  29/329 
30/338 30/341 

Photos 5/29 9/61 
9/63 10/72 10/80 
11/89 13/108 

14/127-8 20/199 
23/236  

Author of 
7 letters 
005 023 
025 028 
033 039 
106, App 
A, and 

most Red 
Cross 
Msgs. 

Recipient 
of 101 
037 104 
105. 
301. 

Deported & died in 
Ravensbruck 

Ernö Weisz (“Onkel”=Uncle) 
Mother’s partner 
Recipient of 001, 002, 003. Sender of 024 & 027.  Author of 
longer note on 033. Bank manager. In 1941, with Jewish 
background, was disallowed employment. 

 

10/70 13/112 
22/221-2 23/235 
25/254 25/270 
27/296 29/315 
29/320-1 29/323 
29/327 30/341 
A/346 A/350-1 

001 002 
003 005 
006 010 
023 025 
028 033 
036 037 
105 106 
038 102 
040 048 
043 047 
049 

Deported to 
Siemensstadt then 
Bergen-Belsen & did 

not survive. 
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Anna Terezia Adler née Schwitzer (“Anny”, 
“Anni”) 1918-1945 
Sister 
Went to a convent school at St Pölten, Austria. By February 
1939 age 20 was engaged to Pali Adler, married soon after. 
Recipient of 103. Author of 107, 101, 037. One of five names 
on the ‘In Memoriam’ tablet in Simon Schwitzer’s mausoleum.   

 

4/24 6/35 6/38 
9/55 9/57 9/60 

9/65 10/76 11/86 
13/109-110 
14/119-120 

15/141 18/172 
19/184 19/186 
20/196 22/221-2 
23/225-6 23/243 
24/244-5 25/254 
25/270 26/276 
27/296 29/314 

29/320-1 
29/323-4 29/327 
29/329 30/338 

A/353 
photos 10/72 
10/79-80 11/89 
13/108 14/127 

29/325 

103 301 
005 010 
015 016 
023 026 
027 028 
029 030 
031 032 
033 034 
039 105 
038 102 
040 044 
049 203 

Deported & died in 
Ravensbruck 

Pali Adler (d 1984) 
Brother-in-law 
Referred to as “Ozsi” in 005. 
Author of 040, 043, 044 & 047.  

 22/222 23/237 
25/254 25/270 
27/296 20/336 
29/314 29/321 
29/323 29/327 
29/329 30/338 

30/341 

002 005 
006 023 
028 032 
033 034 
039 101 
041 042 
043 045 

Deported to 
Siemensstadt. 
Transferred to 

Oranienburg then    
Lübeck. Evacuated by 

Russians from    
Mecklenburg and 

survived. 

Susanna Johanna Bolton née Schwitzer 
(“Susi”, “Jean”, “Susilein”, “Mucki”=sweetie?) 
1920-2019 
Sister 
After her parents divorce, the only one of the three children 
living with their father in Bratislava, but then left one night by 
herself to join her siblings at mothers Bratislava flat. Went to 
university in Bratislava to study medicine. Through the British 
Legation in Bratislava organised a job as student-nurse at 
London Teaching Hospitals. Started at St Alfeges summer 
1939, but on the outbreak of war evacuated to St Mary’s 
Hospital, Sidcup. Returned to St Alfeges as there were no air 
raids at that time. After Dunkirk was not allowed to work in 
private hospitals, transferred to a hospital in South London 
without wounded servicemen, but resigned, supported by 
Czech government in exile, and later stayed at the Harris’s in 
18 Gordon St rent-free in return for helping them, and met 
John. Author of 045, 046 & 049. Recipient of 035, 043, 044. 

 

10/71 10/78 
13/109 15/141 
19/184 21/214 
22/221-2 23/225 
23/234-5 24/244-
5 25/253 25/268 
26/280 27/296  
29/305 29/321 
29/323 29/329 
30/338 30/340 
30/343 A/346 
photos 10/72 
10/80 11/89 
13/108-110 

14/127 29/331  

301 002 
003 005 
006 007 
012 023 
025 026 
029 030 
033 039 
106 040 
048 042 
043 044 
047 

Escaped to UK 1939 

John Bolton 1919- 
Brother-in-law 

 

25/253 25/268 
27/296 29/305 
29/329 30/340-1 

30/343 

005 006 
025 026 
028 029 
033 035 
039 043 
044 045 
049 

l/e 

Joan Schwitzer née Pettet (1925-2009) 
Wife 
Met 31/10/1946 at UCL fancy dress ball (see 30/335).  
Proposed 1/2/1947 (see 30/339).  Married 21/6/1947 (see 
30/343-5).      

 

29/306 30/335-
336 30/339 

30/342-3 30/345  
 l/e 
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

All other individuals in alphabetical order of first name    

Abraham Schwarcz 
Great Great Grandfather  

 
4/16-17 n/m d/b 

Adam Clark 
Great Aunt Nelly’s Grandfather 
Builder (and saviour) of Budapest’s Chain Bridge 
See https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Adam_Clark_(engineer) 

 

 n/m d/b 

Albin Hajós 1867-1939 
Great Uncle 
Photographer. Moved to Greece and USA.  
Reference p48 to two Uncles who married English girls. 
Married Jennie Van Dusen, 2 children Emily & Charles    

4/17 4/20 8/48 n/m d/b 

Albinchen 
Nanny in Bratislava 

 
12/91 n/m  

Alice Laszlo 
Friend of Alice Schwitzer in Bratislava 
Wife of Joczo Laszlo. Lived in Bratislava in 1925. 

 
5/20 12/91   

Alice Schlesinger née Schwitzer d 1942 
Father’s First Cousin 

 
6/32  d/b 

Aloisia Schwitzer née Steiner 1818-1887 
Great Grandmother 
This is the form MKS uses. 
geni.com has Aloysia Luise Leibla Steiner 

 

6/32  d/b 

Aloyz (Kuffler) 
Grandmother’s Son from earlier marriage 

 
6/33  d/b 

Amalia Schwitzer née Schlesinger 1858-1878 
Grandfather’s First Wife 

 
6/32-33  d/b 

Andri/Andris/Andrew Fejér b1913 
Friend in Bratislava & Prague 
Brother of Judy. Studied Mechanical Engineering in Prague. 
“Went steady” with Edith, married in approx 1938, together 
emigrated to Pasadena, California in 1938 and became an 
academic, with fellowship at California Institute of 
Technology. Recipient of 301. VB Prague 19.3.1937 & 
22.4.1937 both on page 3, and 4.12.1937 on page 12. Father 
of Ilona Fejér Wiss.    

12/91 19/188 
21/208 

301 003 
005 

Emigrated to 
California 

Anna Herczeg née Polgar 1889-1967 
Mother’s First Cousin 
Married Jozsef Herceg.  2 children Lili BARCSAI (later NAGY) & 
Marta. 

 

   

Anna Schwarcz née Schlesinger 
MKS wrote that her maiden name might be Rosenberg 
Great Great Grandmother 
Emigrated to the USA 

 

4/17  d/b 

Anni Frankel (sometimes looks like “Ammi” in 
writing) 
Friend in Bratislava 
Year below Jean Bolton. 

 

12/91 049  

Anni Reimann née ? 
Friend 
In class below Jean’s.  

 13/112 18/173 
20/196 
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Anni Schuderpacher 
Friend in Prague & England 
Brother of Herbert Lom. In Eastbourne in July 1938. VB 
Prague 24.10.1937 page 7. 

 
20/201 21/213 

22/223 
  

Anton Gratzer 
Form Master in Sch2 

 
13/103   

Aranka Munk 
Friend from Pieštany. Aunt of Peter Valko. Mother of Pista and 
Franzi. Sister of Valerie Blumenthal (Mrs Willi Blumenthal).  
Moved to Bratislava in 1925.  Died in 1943. 

 
10/76 12/91 

13/110 033 039 Died naturally? 

Artur 
Friend 
In Budapest in 1943, and early 1944 

 
 025 039  

Audrey Hudspeth née Nicholson 
Joan Schwitzer’s bridesmaid 
Later lived in Tasmania 

 30/340 30/343 
30/345   

Ban It Chu 
Friend in London in 1940 
Met in SMH. Later Bishop of Singapore. 

 
25/255 26/280   

Bandi Schwitzer 1908-1944 
Half Cousin 

 

6/33 29/321 n/m d in holocaust 

Béla Szemző (originally Schlesinger) 1894-1984 
Uncle 
Studied Biology & Chemistry in Berlin. Fought in WW1 and 
decorated. Land owner working in agricultural research & 
engineering, particularly sugar beet. First wife (Marianne 
Guth) had spanish flu during childbirth, mother & son (Peter) 
both died. With second wife Frieda Schwitzer (MKS’s aunt) 
had two children (Janos and Erika). With third wife (Vera) had 
two sons, Tibor (Csipi) and Gabor. See 
http://www.schw.it/zer/extract-bela-szemzo-memoirs.pdf  
Author of 042, recipient of 201 202 203 204. 
WPS stayed with Béla in Budapest in 1979. 

 

6/38 6/42 6/44 
13/110 15/150 

17/164 

042 044 
201 202 
203 204 

Forced labour 
(munkaszolgálat) in 

Komaron then 
Carpatho-Ukraine, but 
got released. Stayed 
in Hotel Gellert after 
flat requisitioned. Hid 
in basements and 
survived Seige of 

Budapest. 

(Mr) Berczy 
Dancing Teacher in Bratislava 

 
14/119   

Bernard Bregmann 
Manager at Bamag  
Polish jew. Came to London before WW2. Chain smoker. 

 
26/271 29/306   

Berta Adler (later Weinberger) née Schwitzer 
1858-1925/6 
Great Aunt 

 

6/32  d/b 

Berta Szegö née Szilard 
Great Aunt  
Micka’s mother 

 
   

Berta Szőrenyi née Schwitzer 1883-1919 
Aunt 
Theosophist/Translator.  Died of Spanish Flu. 

 
6/32 6/35-41 8/48  d/b 

Berti Duschnitz 
Friend of Boris Polgar 
Mentioned in Boris Letter 105 from Gyöngyös ghetto  

 
29/315 105 Probably deported 

Auschwitz  
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

(Professor) Biedl 
Doctor (Endocrinologist) in Vienna 

 
11/87   

Boris Polgar née Szilard 1898-1944/5 
Aunt 
Author of 104 & 105.  Married her cousin Istvan (Pista) 
POLGAR.  MKS has died Gyöngyös 15.7.44.  1 son Gyuri 
(George); 3 grandchildren Steven, Barbara MASSEY, George; 
5 Great grandchildren David, Esther, Gregory Polgar; Tom, 
George Massey.  

3/14 5/28 
9/59-60 13/107 
14/130 25/270 
27/296 29/314-5 
29/323 30/338 

Photos 9/62 9/66 
10/80 25/269 

005 015 
023 025 
032 033 
034 036 
037 042 
044 

Held in 
Gyöngyös ghetto 
deported & died in 

Auschwitz 

Bőzsi Szőrenyi (“Alzbeta”) 1904- 
First Cousin 
Paleontologist. WPS met in Budapest in 1979. 

 

6/32 6/38 6/41 
7/45 

Photos 6/34 6/39 
042 044 Survived 

Bubi 
Friend 
In Budapest in 1943 

 
 025  

Catherine Szegö 
Classmate (from Sch2?) 

 
18/172   

Charles Richter 1907-1984 
Second Cousin’s Husband 

 
6/36   

Charlotte Fuchs née Kuffler 
MKS had written “Leona” on family tree 
Great Aunt 

 
   

(Mr) T. G. Collis 
Bailiff, Houghton Down Farm, Hampshire 
Author of Letter of Reference 24/247  

 23/224 23/228-9 
23/232-3 24/247-

8 
  

(Mrs) Collis 
Wife of Bailiff, Houghton Down Farm, Hampshire 

 
23/226 23/229   

(Mrs) Craig 
Landlady in Bexhill 

 
21/210-1   

“Csipi” (Tibor) Szemző 
First Cousin by marriage 

 
6/44  b/a 

Csuka 
Alice Schwitzer’s lawyer. 
In Budapest in 1943, and early 1944. 

 
 005 028 

039  

Cyril 
Fellow farm hand in 1939 
Left Houghton Down Farm before MKS. 

 23/226 23/229 
23/232-3 

 Killed in action with 
RAF 

David Kuffler 1820-1880 
Great Grandfather 

 

  d/b 

Didi Szkublich 
Cousin of Pali Fuchs 
Later lived in Canada 

 
10/76   

Dodo Stark 
Owner of Open Air Cinema in Nitra 
Later lived in Cologne 

 
15/155 30/338   
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Donald Fishlock 
Friend in London in 1940 
Assistant Warden, SMH in 1940 
Later headmaster, lived in Priory Gardens N6. 

 

25/254 26/274   

Duci Feher 
Bratislava Friend 
In class below Jean’s 

 
18/173   

Duci Frankel 
Bratislava Friend 
Recipient of 008.  In year below Jean Bolton. 

 
12/91 008 049  

Edith  
Bratislava Friend from Dance Classes 
No connection with Edith Fejér. 

 
14/119   

Edith Fejér née Behal d1996 
Friend’s wife 
Grew up in Prague (Pevnostni 651). “Went steady” and later 
married Andrew Fejér. Together they emigrated to California 
in 1938. Recipient of 301. VB Prague 21.4.1937 page 3.  
Began process of regaining possession of her childhood home 
in Prague, achieved in 2001 by their daughter (Ilona Fejér 
Wiss), a Florida attorney. 

 

19/188 20/201 
21/208 301 003 Emigrated to 

California 

Edith Szemző née Balogh-Pesti b1926 
Aunt 
Lived in Uruguay.  Stayed in Highgate in 20?? 

 
6/44  l/e 

Egil Gann (d 1985/6) 
Nowegian friend from SMH in London 
Met again in Olso, Norway in 1947 

 
30/341   

(Mrs) Elsie Walton 
Warden, International Youth Centre, Stratford-on-
Avon 
From Cambridge. 

 
21/214 

photo 21/218 
  

Emil Hajos c1860-1918 
Great Uncle 
Married Sarolta Klar, 1 child Ilona Kossuth, 2 grandchildren 
Kalman & Gabor 

 

  d/b 

Emil Schlesinger d 1942 
Uncle 
Farmer 

 

6/42 29/321 044 d/b 

Endre Ranschburg 1899- 
Mother’s First Cousin 
Recipient of letter in MKS’s possession from Kornelia Polgar 
with family info. 

 

4/21   

Eric Glaser (“Erik”) 
Friend in Bratislava 
Cousin of Rudi Payne. Brother of Mila Glaser. Moved to 
Bratislava in 1925. MKS saw him on New Year’s Eve  
31-12-1938 (see WTC301). Called up at some point between 
1936/1939 for a Czech regiment. 

 

10/77 12/91 
17/164 301  
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Erika Maria Szemző 1925-1952 
First Cousin 
Lived in Switzerland and Canada. Died in laboratory accident 
considered suicide by some.  
See http://www.schw.it/zer/extract-bela-szemzo-memoirs.pdf 

 

6/44 
grave photo 6/43 042 044 

Sent to Slovakia after 
German invasion of 
Hungary (March 
1944). Later 

smuggled from Nitra 
to Budapest and 

registered as nanny 
for friend’s 3 children. 
Later sent/escaped to 

Switzerland? 

Ernst 
1st contact in Portugal for forwarding post 

 
 005 Moved to Portugal 

Ernst Knoblock 
Friend in London after 1940-1943 
Met in SMH. 

 
25/255 27/286   

Erzsie Ruszynak née Ranschburg 
Mother’s First Cousin 

 
4/21   

Erzsebet Szilard c1895-1897 
Aunt 

 
  d/b 

Eszti 
Cook for Alice Schwitzer 
In 2nd (Zrinskeho ulica) flat in Bratislava and Budapest  

 
13/110 049  

Fani Schwitzer 1848-c1889 
Great Aunt 
One of two older sisters of Simon Schwitzer and Max 
Schwitzer, whom MKS vaguely knew existed (see 1987 family 
tree) but did not have names (he writes on p32 “nor do I 
know if [Simon] had any other siblings”). Fani Schwitzer 
married her first cousin Moritz Schwitzer. The other older 
sister was Johanna. 

 

6/32 n/m d/b 

(Dr) Fanto 
Chemical Engineer family friend 
Asked to visit to encourage MKS to study Chemical 
Engineering. Later lived in USA and Israel. Assumed died in 
New York. 

 

16/161-162 n/m  

(Mr) Feiner 
2nd Tutor in Pieštany 1923/4 

 
11/81-82 23/229   

Feri Elek  
Friend in Bratislava 
Classmate of Anni 

 
12/91 18/173   

Feri Roth  
Friend in Bratislava 
Nephew of Aranka Munk. Cousin of Peter Valko. Went to the 
Hungarian School. Studied in Zürich. Later lived in 
Switzerland. WPS met in Zürich in 1978. 

 
12/91 13/110 
18/173 18/176 
photo 18/178 

19/183  

Feri Schultz 
Friend in Bratislava 
Called up at some point between 1936/1939 for a Czech 
regiment. In VB (see 20/201). 

 

17/164 20/201   

Frank Cox d 1984 
Colleague at Bamag in 1941 

 25/270 
Photo 27/295    
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Franz Munk (“Franzi”, “Franci”) 
Friend in Pieštany, Bratislava & Prague 
Brother of Pista, son of Aranka Munk. 2 years older than MKS. 
Moved to Bratislava in 1925. In same form in Bratislava as 
Judy Prec and Jeno Rees. Studied Law in Prague. Alice writes 
in 005 that in 1941 Franzi is not able to do meaningful work. 
In 033, Alice writes that Franz is “in service”, i.e. possibly in 
military service, which would probably have been a German-
controlled Slovak regiment. VB p4, p7, p12, 15.1.1938 p17, 
17.12.1938 p23, & 15.1.1939 p24. 

 

10/76 12/91 
14/118 17/164 
18/173 19/188 
20/201 20/204-5 

22/222 
Photos 14/117 
20/202-3 20/205 

005 023 
025 033 
039 

 

Franz Havel 
Classmate at Sch1 
 

 
12/94   

Friderika née Tauber c1790-c1850 
Great Great Grandmother 

 
4/21  d/b 

Frieda Maria Szemző née Schwitzer (“Fridi”) 
1894-1944/5 
Aunt 
Lived with her father Simon until age c. 30, then married Bela 
Szemző (5 years her junior) and had 2 children (Janos & 
Erika). Lived in Bratislava while children were at school. Alone 
after Bela and Janos had been forced into Jewish labour 
gangs. Didn’t want to go into hiding. Bela tried but failed to 
get her released from holding camps in Vrable and Levice. 
Very religious (christian), praying with others in the train 
transport according to others’ testimony, sent on arrival to the 
gas chambers. One of five names on ‘In Memoriam’ tablet in 
Simon Schwitzer’s mausoleum. See p6 of 
http://www.schw.it/zer/extract-bela-szemzo-memoirs.pdf 

 
3/14 6/33-36 6/38 

6/42-44 7/45 
12/91 29/321 

photos 6/34 10/72 

042 044 
203 

Deported & died in 
Auschwitz 

Fritz Haas 
Friend in Bratislava 

 
photo 14/128   

Fuchsberger 
Classmate at Sch1 

 12/94 
photo 12/95   

Gabor Szemző 
First Cousin by marriage 

 
6/44  b/a 

George Oppenheim 
Second Cousin’s Husband 

 
   

George Polgar (“Gyuri”) 1919-2015 
First Cousin 
Doctor specialising in neo-natal pulmonary care. Living in 
Budapest in 1946. Escaped Hungary around 1956 and moved 
to USA. Married Katalin (Katharine) DAVID.  

4/20 9/60 10/71 
27/296 29/314-5 

29/320 
photo 10/80 

25/269 

005 023 
025 039 
104 105 
042 044 

Worked as doctor 

George Rumble 
Chief draughtsman at Bamag 

 
26/272   

Geza Hajós 1869-1951 
Great Uncle 
Reference on p48 is to two Uncles who married English girls. 
Studied law, and became lawyer. Married Nelly Clark, 3 
children, Maria, Győrgy, Geza. 

 

4/17 4/20 8/48   

Geza Hajós 1914-1975 
(MKS family tree has d 1959/60) 
Mother’s First Cousin 
Married Maria Zsilinszky, 5 children Geza, Peter, Gabor, Adam, 
Balazs. Worked at the Hungarian National Bank (according to 
4/20). 

 

4/20   

Geza Ranschburg 
Mother’s First Cousin 

 
   



   

Mat Schwitzer My First Thirty Years – Appendix D - Person Index 11  

Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Golla 
Classmate at Sch1 
Later expert ski jumper 

 12/94 
Photo 12/95   

Gretl Philippi 
Friend in London in 1940-1943 
Met in SMH. 

 25/255 26/274 
27/283 

  

Győrgy Hajós 1912-1972 
Mother’s First Cousin 
Mathematician.  See 
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Gy%C3%B6rgy_Haj%C3%B3s  
Married Marta Vajda, 5 children: Győrgy,  Tamas, Pal, Katalin, 
Marta VIGH  

   

Gyuri Engel 
On paternal family tree. First Cousin of Magda Oppenheim 

 Photo 20/205 n/m  

Gyuri Szőrenyi 1906-1944/5 
First Cousin 
Grain dealer 

 

6/38 6/41 7/45 
29/321 

photo 6/39  
042 died in holocaust 

(Prof) H. E. Watson 
Head of Department at UCL  
Chemical Engineering 

 
24/249   

Hans Abel 
Senior Manager at Bamag Berlin 
Jew. Came to London before WW2. Tall Berliner. Good friend 
of MKS, helped him. 

 
26/271-2 29/306 
photo 27/295   

Hans Strebinger 
Friend in Bratislava 
Jewish. Classmate at Sch1 

 12/93-94 
photo 12/95   

Harold? Wiltshire 
Friend in Bexhill 
Lived in Turkey Road, Bexhill. Wife Jean. 
Jean Bolton Stayed there in May 1939. VB July 1940 page 41. 

 
21/213-4 23/235  
photo 21/218 

  

Harry Freshwater 
English Teacher at Berlitz School, Bratislava 

 
19/184   

(Mr & Mrs) Carol? & Geoff? Harris 
Guest House Owner, 18 Gordon Street WC1 
After September 1940 (when 18 Gordon St was bombed), 
moved to Stratford-on-Avon. In summer 1940 employed MKS 
in Stratford as waiter-gardener. Mrs Harris was from 
Louisiana. Signed VB London 30.5.1940. Names look like Carol 
& Geoff. 

 

24/248 25/258-9 
25/267 049  

Hegyi 
Classmate in Sch2 
Ethnic Hungarian.  Fellow performer in 1935 end-of-year play, 
see ”Sommerfest” Newspaper Cutting. “Always at top of 
form”. Lived in Czechoslovakia after WW2.  

 

18/172 18/179   

Henderson 
Friend from SMH in London 

 
photo 30/333   

Henny Fishlock née ? 
Friend in London in 1940 
Met in SMH. Later married Donald Fishlock. 

 
25/255   

Henriette Arnstein née Kuffler (“Jetti”) 
Great Aunt 
Unnamed on p33, referred to only as sister of Johanna  

 
6/33  d/b 
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Henry Brandon 
Friend in Bratislava 
Older than MKS. Wrote for Bratislava Grenzbote. VB London 
31.1.1940.  Artist of caricature of MKS on 15/156 

 12/91 15/155 
18/173 18/176 

25/250 
 Came to London by 

Jan 1940 

Henry (“Heinz”) Buxbaum (later Brompton) 
Friend in Bratislava, Classmate in Sch2 
Helped produce political magazine in “German Workshop” 
while at school with MKS. Sat on back row of class with MKS 
(“Kommune Partei der Letzten Bank”). VB Prague 27.2.1938 
page 18 and London 11.1.1940. Went with MKS to merchant 
seamen recruitment centre in approx 1942. Joined merchant 
navy, but ship was sunk off Scottish coast, rescued.  

12/91 18/172 
18/175-6 20/201 
25/250 26/277-8 

29/329 
photo 18/178 

 Came to London by 
Jan 1940 

Herbert Lom 
Shared Train compartment on 30.1.1939 from Prague to 
London with MKS. Brother of Anni Schuderpacher. VB London 
5.4.1940 page 32. Became actor known for Inspector Dreyfus 
role in Pink Panther films, see 
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Herbert_Lom  

21/213 22/223 
25/250 n/m Escaped to England 

30.1.1939 

Hilde Newlands (later Fisher) 
Friend in London in 1940-1943 
Met in SMH. Later married Bill Fisher. 

 25/255 27/285 
photo 30/333   

Hofrat Havel 
Classmate in Sch2  
Ethnic German. Expelled from Czechoslovakia after WW2. 
Lived in Vienna.  One of three classmates “rediscovered” by 
Henry Brompton. MKS met him in 1986.   

 

18/172   

Ifigenia Wilczekova 
Godmother 

 
8/50-54   

Ila Weisz (“Ila néni” = Aunt Ila, also Illa) 
Mother of Ernö Weisz 
Lived in Kosice 

 
23/235 29/320 

001 002 
007 020 
037 105 

 

Ilona Szemző (while married, Molfino) 
First Cousin’s daughter 

 
6/44  b/a 

Imre Szőrenyi (“Imrich”) 1905-1959 
First Cousin 
Biologist/Biochemist, worked in Berlin, fled to USSR, worked in 
Kiev, returned later to Budapest.  

 

6/35 6/38 6/41 
7/45 042 Fled to USSR 

Iolanda Sipos (“Iolly”) 
Friend of Alice Schwitzer in Budapest 
Lived in Switzerland in 1945. Author of 048. 

 
n/m 048 Survived Belsen  

Iren Ranschburg née Hajós 1978-1945 
Great Aunt 
Married Pal RANSCHBURG; 3 children: Endre (3 
grandchildren), Erzsebet (Erzsie) RUSZNYAK (2 grandchildren) 
& Geza (3 grandchildren). MKS aged approx 7 met her in 
Budapest (c1924), see p20. 

 

4/20-21 4/25 
29/321  

died of hunger during 
siege of Budapest 

Irma Slovakova 
Half Sister-in-law 
Wife of Štefan Slovak.  MKS never met her. 

 

n/m n/m  
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Isidor Hajós (“Izso”) 1859-1906 
Great Uncle 
Married Irma Reismann, 4 children Elek, Magda, Pal, Lili 

 

  d/b 

Istvan-Győrgy Szilard (“Pista”) 1901-1920 
Uncle 
Officer in WW1. Committed suicide in Budapest. 

 

10/68 10/71 
10/78 13/107 
Photo 10/69 

 d/b 

Ivan Kühmayer 
Half Cousin’s husband 

 

   

(Mrs) Jan Wollner 
Ernö Weisz’s sister 
Lived in Kosice in 1946 

 
n/m 043 Survived 

Jancsi Elek 
Friend in Bratislava 
Older than MKS  

 
12/91 18/173 301 

Planned to emigrate 
in 1939 to Palestine 

Jancsi Wollner 
Ernö Weisz’s nephew  

 
n/m 002 043 Survived 

Janos Szemző (“Hansi”) 1924-1958 
First Cousin 
Emigrated to Uruguay. Comitted suicide in Uruguay. 

 

6/44 042 044 

Forced labour camps 
then hid in basements 
and survived Seige of 

Budapest. 

Jani 
 

 
 003  

Jeanette Schlesinger née Kuffler c1847-1913 
Great Aunt 
Unnamed on p33, referred to only as sister of Johanna  
Unnamed on 1987 family tree. 
Death Notice in NFP 30.11.1913  

 

6/33  d/b 

Jenö Hecht (“Eugen”) 
2nd contact in Portugal for forwarding post.  
Sender of 009.  

 
 006 009 Moved to Portugal 

Jenö Rees (originally Reisz) 
Bratislava friend, and Room-mate 18 Gordon 
Street WC1 
Older than MKS. Had dated Anni Schwitzer. Emigrated to New 
York. Lived at 18 Gordon Street from 1.1.1940, as recorded in 
VB page 26. Married Zsuzsi (Susi) Stern. Called up approx 
1941/2 (in Pioneer Corps for Refugees?) . 

 
12/91 14/120-121 
14/124-5 18/173 
24/248 25/250 
26/276 29/324 

29/329 

301 003 
Moved to London in 
1939 and later to 

USA. 

Jenö Steiner d1985 
Friend 
Father of Juci? 
Married to Nada. VB Prague on 30.3.1937 (page 3), 28.9.1937 
page 5, 30.10.1937 page 9, 4.12.1937 page 12, 15.1.1938 
page 17, page 24. In Hlohovec in early 1944. MKS met in 
Prague in 1946.  

 

22/222-3 30/337 
005 022 
023 025 
028 039 

Survived 
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Joczo Laszlo (“Joco”) 
Friend of Alice Schwitzer in Bratislava 
Brother of Sandor Laszlo. Lived to Bratislava in 1925. 
In Budapest in early 1944.  

 

5/20 12/91 039  

Johanna Weinberger née Schwitzer b 1848 
Great Aunt 
One of two older sisters of Simon Schwitzer and Max 
Schwitzer, whom MKS vaguely knew existed (see 1987 family 
tree) but did not have names (he writes on p32 “nor do I 
know if [Simon] had any other siblings”).  Married Salamon 
Weinberger (NB another sister Berta’s second marriage was 
also to a Salamon Weinberger).  Info from geni.com 

 

6/32 n/m d/b 

Josef Goldberger 
Chaffeur in Bratislava 

 
12/93   

Josef Schwitzer 1878- 
Uncle (Father’s Half-Brother) 

 

3/13 6/33-35 6/38 
7/45 

Photo 10/72 
044 deported and died 

Jozf Lajoš 
Author 

 
6/36   

Juci Steiner 
Bratislava Friend 
Married June 1943 in London. VB London May or June 1940 
page 41. 

 

 
301 016 
019 022 
025 039 

Moved to London 

Judy Preč née Fejér 
Friend in Bratislava & Prague 
Older than MKS. Studied Medicine in Prague. Sister of Andrew.  
Arrived in England by plane in September 1939. Married Olda 
Preč approx 1941/2. MKS met in Prague in 1946. Worked at 
Hammersmith Hospital.   

 12/91 14/121 
18/173 19/188 
23/242 26/276 
29/329 30/337 
Photo 20/205 

003? 

Came to England in 
September 1939.  

Returned to 
Czechoslovakia in 

1945  

Karl Meznik 
Headmaster Sch2 
Named in 1934 Sommerfest newspaper cutting 

 
13/102   

Karol 
Coachman for Stefan Schwitzer in 1916 

 
5/31 11/83   

Katherine Polgar née David 1924-2009 
First Cousin’s wife 
Married George Polgar; 3 children Steven, Barbara MASSEY, 
George; 5 grandchildren David, Esther, Gregory Polgar; Tom, 
George Massey.  

   

Katharina Spitzer née Kuffler (“Kati”) 
Great Aunt 
Unnamed on p33, referred to only as sister of Johanna  

 
6/33  d/b 

Katka Pughe née Graber (“Kato”) 
Later Mrs Schönbaumova 
Friend in Bratislava & Prague 
Jewish. Classmate at Sch1 and Sch2. Studied law at University 
in Prague. Left Czechosloavkia around Jan 1939 (see 20/201). 
Husband Karel. MKS holidayed with Katka & Karel in Seaford 
in August 1939. VB Prague 23.10.1937 page 6, 4.12.1937 
page 11, and 15.1.1938 page 17. Also VB 15.1.1939 page 25 
with husband (translation 20/201). Kato’s mother mentioned 
in 023 & 025 as being in Budapest. 

 

12/91 12/93 
13/104 14/121 
14/125 18/172 
18/176 18/180 
19/188 20/201 

23/243 
Photos 12/95 
14/122 20/205 

23/236 

  

Kelemen   027  

Ken Knight 
Friend in London in 1940 
Met in SMH. Later Professor of English at Canterbury. 

 
25/255 30/335   
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

“Kissa” (Kissaszony) 
Simon Schwitzer’s Housekeeper   

 

6/37  
photo 6/39   

Klärchen  
Nanny 
Nanny also for Anni Schwitzer and later George Polgar 

 

9/60 9/65 11/86 
12/91 

Photos 9/66 10/72  
  

Klari Porzsolt 
Classmate in Sch2? 

 
18/172   

Kobi Weil-Erlanger 
Contact in Zürich for forwarding post 

 
 011  

(Mr) Korn 
Managing director of Bamag Berlin 
Jewish. Came to London before WW2. Had retired by the time 
MKS joined Bamag. 

 
26/271 

Photo 27/295   

Kornelia Polgar née Hajós (“Nella”) 1865-1948 
Great Aunt 
Married Sandor POLGAR, 3 children, Lajos, Istvan (Pista, 
married MKS’s aunt Boris Szilard, & Anna 

 

4/20 29/315 105  

Kurt Newlands 
Friend in London after 1940 
Met in SMH. 

 
25/255   

Laci Laufer 
Classmate in Sch2 

 
18/172 301 

In 1939 had plans to 
go to Kenya. 

Laci (Szegö?) 
Great Uncle  
This name appears in 028, possibly a reference to Micka’s 
deceased father. 

 

 028  

Lajos Hajos 1870-1930 
Great Uncle 
Judge. Married Hermina BALAJTHY, no issue. 

 

  d/b 

Lajos Polgar 1886-1970 
Mother’s First Cousin 
Married Ilona Komjadi, d New York 

 
4/20  

survived and 
emigrated to New 

York 

Lajos (“Lajosko”) 
Friend 
Died in/before 1943 

 
 023  

Lajos Winter 
Friend in Pieštany. 
Family owned Thermia Palace Hotel, Pieštany. 

 
10/77   

Laszlo 
Friends of Alice & Ernö. 
In Budapest in 1943 

 
 028  

Leona Fuchs née Kuffler 
Great Aunt 
Unnamed on p33, referred to only as sister of Johanna  

 
6/33  d/b 
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Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Leona Schlesinger née Schwitzer (“Leonka”) d 
1944/5 
Aunt 
One of five names on the ‘In Memoriam’ tablet in Simon 
Schwitzer’s mausoleum. 

 

6/33-35 6/38 6/42 
29/321 

033 044 
203 

deported and died 

Leslie (“Laci”, “Lacko”) Eggerton (originally 
Eisler)  
Father’s First Cousin through marriage 
Mother’s adopted Brother 
Leslie’s mother died in road accident when he was young.  
Micka Szegö became his foster mother. Moved to Bratislava in 
1925. Older than MKS. In Prague (in business?) in 1935. 
Called up at some point between 1936/1939 for a Czech 
regiment. Lived in London. Married Marika. Then emigrated to 
Australia. Recipient of 040 (Lacko). In VB (see 20/201 and 
25/250), London 18.1.1940. 

 

4/24 6/33 12/91 
14/124 15/155 
17/164 18/173 
19/188 20/201 
20/205 25/250 

29/329 

301 040 Moved to London in 
1939. 

Lilli Lichtenstein/Liechtenstein 
Friend in Pieštany. 
Sister of Steffi. Moved to Bratislava in 1925. In same class as 
Jean Bolton in Bratislava.  

 

10/77 12/91   

Lilli Fenyvesi 
 

 
 003 021 

027  

Dr Lovas   301 003 Had plans to go to 
Kenya in 1939 

Lucette Dechappe 
Friend in London in 1940 
Met in SMH. 

 

25/255-7 
Photo 25/256    

(Prof) M. B. Donald 
(Acting) Head of Department at UCL  
Chemical Engineering 

 
24/249   

Magda Oppenheim née Schlesinger 1916-1982 
Second Cousin 
? VB London 30.5.1940 page 38 

 6/32 14/124 
15/139 15/141 
15/155 15/158 

29/328 
photo 15/157 

 Moved to London 

Magda Spitzer 
Friend in Bratislava and Sch2 

 18/176 
photo 18/178 

  

Magdi Mandula 
Friend in Bratislava 

 
photo 14/128   

A. H. Manning 
British manager of Bamag 
Had managed the UK representative office before WW2 

 26/271 29/306 
photo 27/295 

  

(Mrs) Margit 
Friend 
Probably in Slovakia, Alice writes in 033 that she feared she & 
her husband had been deported, but she hadn’t. 

 

 033  

Maria Slovakova (“Mariska”) 
Alice & Stefan Schwitzer’s Cook 
Mother of MKS’s half-brother Štefan Slovak 
From Madunice, moved with family to Pieštany, then to 
Bratislava, then (for Stefan only) to Velky Lapas. Taught MKS 
Slovak.   

 

10/73 11/86 
12/92 13/110 

15/153 
 Lived in Madunice 
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
Relationship to MKS. Summary Notes. 

 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Marinka Kühmayer née Schwitzer 1905-1974 
Half Cousin 

 

6/33 15/139   

Martin Deutsch 
Contact in Portugal.  Brother of Zigmund Deutsch. 

 
 025 

Moved to Portugal, 
then emigrated to 

Argentina 

Mary Smith née Cude 
Friend in London in 1940 
Met in SMH. 

 
25/255   

Mary Trevelyan 
Warden, Student Movement House, London 

 23/224 25/254 
26/273 26/276 
26/281 27/282-3 
27/285 30/340 
photo 30/333  

 l/e 

Max Schwitzer 1856/7-1910 
Great Uncle 
Death Notice in NFP 17.9.1910 

 
6/32  d/b 

Maximilian Schurmann d 1970 
Painter 

 
6/36   

Michal Bielik b 1909 
First Cousin’s Husband 

 8/50-54 9/55 
15/139   

Michal Bubnič 
Priest of Madunice who baptised MKS 
Later Bishop. Obtained dispensation for Alice & Štefan’s 
divorce. 

 
8/50-54 9/55 

13/109 
  

Micka Szegö (“Mici”) 
Mother’s First Cousin 
Both parents died when Micka was young.  Brought up by 
Simon & Hermina Szilard (her godparents/guardians), like an 
adopted sister for Alice Schwitzer.  Housekeeper/foster 
mother for Leslie Eggerton.  Moved to Bratislava in 1925. 
Never married.  Close Friend of Alice Schwitzer.  Carer for 
Grandfather Simon Szilard in old age.  Gave MKS photos & 
info about his family. 

 

4/24 9/59 10/70 
12/91 29/321 

028 037 
040 044 

Lived in Hlohovec as 
carer for Simon 

Szilard 

Micky Watson née ? 
Friend in London in 1940 
Met in SMH. Sister of Molly. 

 
25/255   

Miksa Fuchs 1872-1932 
Father’s First Cousin 

 
  d/b 

Mila Glaser 
Friend in Bratislava 
Cousin of Rudi Payne. Sister of Eric Glaser. Moved to 
Bratislava in 1925. Later lived in Chicago. 

 

10/77 12/91   

Mimi 
Classmate in Sch2 
Stayed in Czechoslovakia 

 13/105 18/172 
18/176   

Molly Dicker née ? 
Friend in London in 1940 
Met in SMH. Sister of Mickey Watson 

 
25/255   

Mor Hajós (“Moritz”) 1825-1889 
Great Grandfather 
Lived at Forro Encs 

 

4/15-17  d/b 
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Name (“also known as”) born–died  
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 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Moritz (“Moshe”) Schwitzer 1841-1919 
Great Uncle 
First cousin of Simon Schwitzer and Max Schwitzer who 
married their older sister Fani Schwitzer (and so became their 
brother-in-law).  Had 5 children including Paul Schwitzer.  Info 
and photo from geni.com    

n/m n/m d/b 

Musry 
Friend at SMH in 1943 
Indian. 

 27/283-4 photo 
30/333   

Nelly Hajós née Clark 1889-1957 
Great Aunt 
Granddaughter of Chain Bridge builder Adam Clark 
Married Geza Hajos, 3 children: Maria, Győrgy, Geza. 

 

   

Nyilas 
Classmate in Sch2 
Ethnic Hungarian. “Always at top of form”. Lived in 
Czechoslovakia after WW2. 

 

18/172 18/179   

Nyuli 
 

 
 003  

Omry Ronen b 1938 
First Cousin’s son 
Later lived in Israel or USA 

 
6/41  Living in USSR 

Mr Orvan 
Head Bailiff of Štefan Schwitzer 
at Velky Lapas & Janikovce. 

 7/46 15/136 
15/147-8   

Pal Ranschburg 1870-1945 
Great Uncle 
Professor of Psychology in Budapest 
See https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Ranschburg_effect 
Married Iren Hajos.  

4/20-21 29/321  died of hunger during 
siege of Budapest 

Pali Fuchs 1907-1991 
Second Cousin 
Later lived in Vienna 

 
10/76   

Pali (Pavel) Szemző/Schlesinger 1896-1960 
Uncle’s Brother 
Brother of Bela Szemző. Kuki’s father-in-law. 

 
n/m 042  

Patricia Sargant née Bolton 
Niece 

 30/340-1 29/305 
29/321 29/329 
photo 29/331 

 b/a 

Paul Fejer 
Cousin of Judy & Andrew.  Owner & driver of Tatra sports car 
in which MKS travelled in July 1938. MKS met up with him in 
London in August 1938, he then stayed in England.   

 
21/210 21/212 
21/217 30/331  Stayed in England 

from July 1938 

Paul Verő 
Lived in Golianovo.  Knew Štefan Schwitzer. 

 7/46 14/124 
15/139 15/158 
29/328 30/338 

  

Paul (“Pinkus”) Schwitzer 1868-1939 
Father’s First Cousin 
Eldest son of Moritz & Fani Schwitzer.  Married Antonia 
Dreschler who died in Auschwitz.  Daughter Edith Polanova 
was centenarian (1910-2010).  He had four siblings.  Info and 
photos from this branch of the family from geni.com     

n/m n/m d/b 

Paula Fuchs née Löwy 1885-1978 
Father’s First Cousin’s wife 

 10/76 
Photo 10/72   
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 MFTY ref 
chapter/page 

WTC 
ref Fate in WW2 

Paula Marton née Hajós b c1965 
Great Aunt 
Married Samson Marton  

 

   

Pavel Schwitzer 
Stood next to MKS in recruitment line in 1942  
Probably the Paul Schwitzer living in North London, father of 
Peter Schwitzer b 1955, grandfather of Schwitzers at Mill Hill 
School contemporaries of YIES. Peter Schwitzer based in 
Totteridge runs Amipak Ltd (packaging company). 

 

26/277   

Peter Buxbaum 
Friend in Bratislava 
Helped produce political magazine in “German Workshop” 
while at school with MKS. 

 

18/175-6   

Peter Lax 
Friend in Bratislava 
Classmate of Anni. Accompanied MKS on summer 1936 visit to 
Italy. 

 12/91 14/125 
14/132 16/161 
18/173 20/196-8 
Photo 14/128 

301 Moved to London 
before 6-1-1939 

Peter Valko (formerly Wolff) 
Closest Friend in Bratislava. Flatmate in Prague 
Cousin of Munks. Cousin of Feri Roth. Lived next door in 
Bratislava. Jewish. Classmate at Sch1 & Sch2. Sat on back row 
of class with MKS (“Kommune Partei der Letzten Bank”). 
Fellow-performer in 1934 summer fete play at Sch2, referred 
to as ‘Wolff’ in “Sommerfest” newspaper cutting. Accompanied 
MKS on 1935 “Matura” trip to Switzerland, France, Belgium, 
Germany, Austria. Studied medicine at the Czech University in 
Prague. Alice writes in 005 Peter doing unpaid factory work. 
Tried to escape via Poland but caught (see 30/337). MKS met 
in Prague in 1946, when he was working as a doctor. Later 
lived in Winnipeg, Canada. 

 

10/76 11/91-94 
13/110 14/115 
14/118 14/120-
124 17/164 

18/172 18/176 
20/205 22/222 
Photos 12/95 
14/117 15/155 
18/178 19/183-6 
19/188 19/192 

30/337 

005 
Tried to escape via 
Poland but caught.  

Survived 

Petroushka Pilet 
Cousin of family where MKS stayed in Vevey, 
Switzerland 

 
15/158   

(Mr & Mrs) Pilet 
Family where MKS stayed in Vevey, Switzerland 

 
14/133   

Piroska 
Friend in London in 1940 
Met in SMH. Later wife of Rajaratnam, Foreign Minister of 
Singapore. WPS met in Singapore in 1982/3.  

 

25/255 30/340   

Piroska Eisler  
Father’s First Cousin through marriage 
Sister of Leslie Eggerton. Mother died in road accident. 

 
12/91   

Pista Munk 
Friend from Piestany. 3½ years older than MKS. Moved to 
Bratislava in 1925.  

 10/76-77 12/91 
14/118 17/164 
Photo 14/117 

  

Pista Polgar (“Istvan”) 1885/8-1944/5 
Uncle 
Husband of Boris Szilard 

 

4/20 27/296 
29/315 29/320 

023 025 
033 105 
042 

Held in 
Gyöngyös ghetto 
deported & died 

Auschwitz 

Pista Schwitzer 
There is a reference to a Pista Schwitzer on 6/41 as son of 
Max Schwitzer, but this does not exist on the family tree.  It 
must be an error for one of the other son’s of Max Schwitzer. 

 
6/41   
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Pista Szőrenyi 1907-1986 
First Cousin 
Agronomist. Emigrated to Argentina. Returned to Budapest 
before WW2. Married with daughter in Canada. 4 children 
from lady in Budapest.  Visited Highgate in late 1970s??  

6/41 7/45 033 042 
044 Survived 

(Mr) Rapschitz 
Štefan Schwitzer’s cattle dealer 

 
15/150-2   

Rajaratnam 
Friend in London in 1940 
Met in SMH. Later Foreign Minister of Singapore. WPS met in 
Singapore in 1982/3.  

 
25/255 26/280 

30/340   

(Fräuelein) Rauter 
1st Tutor in Pieštany in 1923 

 
11/81   

Renee 
Friend in Bratislava 

 
Photo 14/128   

Rex Patterson d1984 
Employer in 1939 
Owner of Houghton Down Farm, Hampshire 
Author of letter 24/246. 

 23/224 23/226 
23/229 23/232 
24/246 24/248 

n/m l/e 

Richard Schlesinger 
Father’s First Cousin’s husband 

 
   

Rosa Nagel née Schwitzer 1856-1936 
Great Aunt 
Lived in Hlohovec 

 
6/32  d/b 

Rose Knight née Scheuer 
Friend in London in 1940 
Met in SMH. Later married Ken Knight. 

 
25/255 30/335   

Roza Hajós née Schwarcz 1835-1925 
Great Grandmother 
Lived in Forro Encs. MKS aged approx 7 met her in Budapest 
(c1924) at the home of her daughter Iren Ranschburg (see 
p20).  

4/16-17 4/20 4/25  d/b 

Rubin 
Friend from SMH in London 

 
photo 30/333   

Rudi Payne (formerly Scheibner) 
Son of friends of Alice & Štefan Schwitzer in 
Pieštany 
Cousin of Eric Glaser.  Moved to Bratislava in 1925. 

 

10/7 12/91   

(Chaplain) Rudolf 
Classmate in Sch2  
Ethnic German. Expelled from Czechoslovakia after WW2. 
Lived in Vienna.  One of three classmates “rediscovered” by 
Henry Brompton. MKS met him in 1986.   

 

18/172 18/176   

Salamon Nagel d 1929 
Great Uncle 
Ironmonger in Hlohovec 

 
4/27  d/b 

Salamon Shlomo Schwitzer 1818-1883 
(spelling from geni.com) 
MKS writes Solomon Schwitzer 
Great Grandfather 

 

6/32  d/b 
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ref Fate in WW2 

Salamon Weinberger 
Great Uncle 
Witness for wedding of MKS’s parents. 
NB two sisters of Simon Schwitzer, both Johanna Schwitzer (b 
1848) and Berta Schwitzer (b 1858), appear to have married a 
Salamon Weinberger.  Berta’s was her second marriage.  No 
dates and no info at present to know whether this could have 
been the same person.  

 

5/20   

Samson Marton 1859-1925 
Great Uncle 
Husband of Paula Hajos 

 
  d/b 

Samuel Steiner 
Unknown relation, presumably descendant of 
Great Grandmother Aloysia Steiner 
Witness for wedding of MKS’s parents 

 

5/20   

Sandor Laszlo  
Friend of Alice Schwitzer in Bratislava  
Brother of Joczo Laszlo 
Landlord of MKS’s (parent’s) flat in Bratislava. 
In Budapest in early 1944.  

 

5/20 10/70 12/91 039  

Sandor Polgar (formerly Spitzer?) 1856-1924 
Great Uncle 
Married Kornelia Hajos 

 
4/20 n/m d/b 

Sandy Duff 
Friend in London in 1940 
Met in SMH. 

 25/255 26/273-4 
27/283-5 29/305 
photo 29/306 

  

Sari 
Friend in Bratislava/Hlohovec 

 
 023  

“Schnuki” (Stefani) Bielik née Schwitzer 
b 1919 
First Cousin 

 

6/33 6/35 6/38 
10/78 14/124 
15/135 15/137 
15/139 29/321 

30/338 

 Survived 

Simon Clark 
Great Aunt Nelly’s Father 
Son of engineer Adam Clark and Nelly Hajos 

 

n/m n/m  

Sohab Mistry (d 1986) 
Lived Bombay, met through work 

 
29/306  l/e 

Solomon Schwitzer 1818-1883 
Great Grandfather 
This is the form MKS uses. 
geni.com has Salamon Shlomo Schwitzer 

 

6/32  d/b 

Štefan Slovak 1916-1982 
Half Brother 
Son of Štefan Schwitzer and Maria Slovakova. 

 

n/m n/m 
Fought in WW2 and 

survived. 

Stefanie Schwitzer née Adler 1884- 
Half Aunt 

 

6/33   
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Steffi Doss née Lichtenstein/Liechtenstein 
Friend in Piestany. 
Moved to Bratislava in 1925. In same class as MKS in 
Bratislava in Sch2. “Always at top of form”. Sister of lovasi. 
Later lived in Egypt, husband Halim Doss, a copt, doctor to 
diplomats, socialised with British Ambassador Sir Michael Weir 
(sat behind President Sadat when he was assassinated). WPS 
stayed with Steffi & Halim in Cairo for 5 weeks in 1981. 
Visited MKS in London in 1990s/2000s. 

 

10/77 12/91 
18/172 18/176 

18/179 
  

Susi (“Zsuzsi”) Stern 
Bratislava Friend 
In class below Jean’s. First wife of Jenö Rees. London 
7.1.1940 page 26. 

 

18/173 25/250  Had left by Jan 1940 

(Dr) Szabo 
Hungarian Diplomat 
Fried of Bela Szemzo. First Secretary at Hungarian Embassy in 
London. Carried letter 042 from Budapest to London. 

 

n/m 042  

Szendröi 
Friends in Budapest of Alice & Erno in 1943 

 
 028 b/a 

Tali Gratzer 
Classmate in Sch2  
Ethnic German. Expelled from Czechoslovakia after WW2. 
Lived in W. Germany.  One of three classmates “rediscovered” 
by Henry Brompton.   

 

18/172 18/176   

Tamas Hajós 
Second Cousin 
Lived in Budapest on 4th floor flat with view of chain bridge, 
WPS visited with MKS in 2011. Now lives in Budakeszi. Many 
children, grandchildren and great-grandchildren. Runs family 
database hajos.iif.hu (logon required).  

  b/a 

(Mr) Tasker 
Friend he met in lake District 
and later met through work 

 29/307 
photo 29/306  

  

Teddy Brackman 
Business Agent in Paris 

 
30/332 30/334    

Terezia Szilard c1830-c1890 
Great Grandmother 

 
  d/b 

Teri Richter née Schlesinger 1915-1982 
Second Cousin 

 6/32 6/36 14/124 
15/139 15/141 
15/155 15/158 

29/328 
photo 15/157 

  

Thelma Beaumont 
Friend in Bexhill 
Performed in Pavilion show August 1938 

 

21/212   

Theresie Kuffler née Schlesinger (“Therese”) 
1819/20-1901 
Great Grandmother 

 

   

Tibor Forgach  
Bratislava boyfriend of Jean Bolton 
Ethnic Hungarian. Went to the Hungarian School 

 18/172 
photo 18/174   
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Tividar Szőrenyi  
Uncle 
Medical Doctor 

 
6/38   

Ulli Fuchshuber 
Nanny for MKS’s sisters Anni & Jean 
Viennese 

 
15/141   

Utz Zedwitz 
Godfather 

 
8/50-54   

Vagyon 
Family name of the superior landlord of farms at Janikovce 

 15/136    

Vicar’s daughter(s) 
 

 
23/233 005 l/e 

Victor Tabbush 
Friend in London in 1940. Flatmate in 1943. 
Met in SMH. Shared flat with MKS in Gower Street. Holidayed 
in Devon in August 1943 with MKS. 

 25/255 27/282-5 
27/290-1 29/305 
29/329 30/340 

30/345 
photo 29/306 

  

Walter Schönfeld 
Classmate in Sch2 
Piano player in 1935 end-of-year concert, see ”Sommerfest” 
Newspaper Cutting. VB Prague 23.2.1937 page 2, and London 
11.1.1940 page 26.   

 

18/172 18/181   

Weinzetl (”Csacsi”=Donkey) 
Friend & Classmate in Sch2 
Ethnic German. Son of winegrower. Fellow performer in 1935 
end-of-year play, see ”Sommerfest” Newspaper Cutting. Sat 
on back row of class with MKS (“Kommune Partei der Letzten 
Bank”) 

 

18/176 
photo 18/178 

 Died fighting for 
Hitler  

Willi Blumenthal (“Vally”) 
Landlord of 2nd Bratislava flat in Zrinskeho ulica 
Husband of Valerie.  Brother-in-law of Aranka Munk 

 
13/110 301 Had plans to go to 

Hungary in 1939 

(Mr) Wisniewski 
Manager at Bamag Berlin 
Tall pole. Came to London before WW2. Killed after war in 
plant explosion in southern France. 

 
26/272 

photo 27/295   

(Mr) Wurm 
Form Teacher at Sch1 

 12/94 
photo 12/95   

Zigmund Deutsch 
3rd Contact in Portgual for forwarding post. 
Brother of Martin Deutsch.  In wool business. 
Emigrated to Argentina in August 1943. 

 

 023 025 
028 039 

Moved to Portugal, 
then emigrated to 

Argentina 

Žižka 
Foreman for Štefan Schwitzer 
Family later lived in Leopoldov, where WPS met them c.1994 

 
11/85   

Zsigmond Szilard (formerly Schlüssler) c1830-
c1890 
Great Grandfather 

 
  d/b 

Zsuzsi Geröfi 
Classmate from Sch2 
She was in the same concentration camp as MKS’s mother 
(Alice Schwitzer) and sister (Anni Schwitzer) so was able to 
tell MKS in person what had happened to them (see 30/338) 
when he met her in Bratislava in 1946.  Later emigrated to 
Australia. 

 

18/172 18/176 
29/321 30/338  

Survived 
concentration camp 

(Ravensbruck) 

 


